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I DESCRIPTION
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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL {IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Located at the intersection of Court and County streets, the Pythian Castle
is a prominent example of Romanesque Revival architecture in Portsmouth. The
three-story, seven-bay building is of brick construction with rough and smooth
ashlar dressings. The first floor of Pythian Castle is reserved for commercial
use. Both the second and third floors contain large meeting halls.

Entrance to the south bay store is via a door placed on a diagonal to the
strect, Two Romanesque Revival, smooth-faced ashlar archways, each of which lies
parallel to the intersecting streets, frame the corner entrance. A similar arch
containing a decorative wrought-iron gate and transom screen framas the stair
entrance to ths north. » fe , e e ‘ N

- The center commercial front is traditional in form and is composed of a
recessed double door flanked by large plate-glass display windows set into metal
frames. Large ome-light transoms top each window and the paired doors.

The second and third stories continue the three-tart facade division established

on the ground level. End bay units are set off by attenuated. rough-faced, coursed
ashlar pilers. These piers extend from the first- to the third-story belt courses.
A gable parapet flanked by brick minaret projections breaks above the roof line,
crowning each end bay. The five-bay center section of Pythian Castle is visually
terminated by a series of low, rough-faced ashlar, blind round arches with sunburst
stone insets.

Windows on the second and third floors are 4/4 double-hung sash and are
attenuated in form. Second-story windows exhibit decorative round brick heads
with rough ashlar springers. “Third-floor windows are similar in scale but have
flat heads. Tn the end bays beneath the second-story belt course, stone medallions
contain the emblem of the Knights of Pythias. Appearing in raised stone letters
at the building's center are the words "PYTHIAN CASTLE." A low cast- and wrought-
iron balcony stretches across the center section of the building above the first
floor.

Pythian Castle measures forty-five feet across the east (main) facade and
is sixty-one feet in depth. The building has brick bearing walls with steel and
wood floor framings and dis covered by a flat metal voof with a slightly ralsed
parapet and finial decoration,

The interior of the bullding follows a side-hall plan. Large meeting rooms

(31'x 58') are situated off the north bay stairs on both the second and third floors.

Decorative elements within the building are of builder catalogue derivation.
Simple beaded wood wainscoting and chair rails line most interior walls and the
stairs. Turned stair balusters are similarly from catologue stock. Pressed metal

ceilings provide the richest interior decoration. Metal ceilings are found through-

out the entire building with the exception of the center commercial unit on the

(See Continuation theet #1)
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE _

“: Désigned ‘by the local Portsmouth arclhitect and builder EdWaré;Ovérman,
Pythian Castle was built between 1897 and 1898. The three-story, brick and
stone building stands as one of the best surviving examples of Pomanesque
Revival architecture in Portsmouth. The cornerstone was laid on June 16, 1897,
culminating a lengthy parade and celebration held in honor of the eyent.
Dedication cevemonies were held ten months later on April 15, 1898." Typical of
late 19th-century fraternal lodges, the Castle's exotic and imposing character
symbolized the secret organization and social prominence of the Knights in the
«community.

The Knights of Pythias was founded in Washington, D, C., on February 19,
1864, by the Arion Glee Club, a local wen's group. Originally intended to be a
socicty of government clerks, the Knights of Pythias soon evolved into a complex
secvret fraternal order. According to early chronicles, it was to be a "society
[#hose] business and operations [were to bel of a secret character having for
its ultimate objectives ¥Friendship, Benevolence, and Charity.”2 Bilending Greek
mythology, Christian philosophy, elements from the Middle Ages, and super—patriotism,
the order gained wide appeal during the post-Civil War period. Within five years
of its founding, branches of the lodge had been established in fifteen states span—
ning the Union and the old Confederacy. By their 1873 annual weeting held in
Richmond, Virginia, Pythians had established lodges in twenty-eight states.

Perhaps due to their close alliance with government, the mewmbership of the
Knights of Pythias modeled their organization after that of the Federal government,
In addition to execcutive, judicial, and legislative branches, a military branch
called the "Uniform Guard"” was established to promote military spirit. Dues were
called "taxes," and a "constitution" governed the order.

Membership in the Knights of Pythias was limited to lirerate white males of
good moral character, aged twenty-one to fifty. Gamblers, barkeepers, and retailers
of spirits were barred from membership.4 As a secret order, rituals, semiamnual
passwoxds, and the significance of variocus symhols, banners, and uniform decorations
were known only to members. » - o

The first Portsmouth chapter of the Knights of Pythias was founded in April 1871.
Called the Atlantic Lodge, it was founded by eightcen Pythiaus already belonging to
other Virginia lodges. Their charter was granted on May 5, 1871, by the Crand Lodge
of Virginia. Prior to erecting their hall on Court Street, the Fythians used the
hall of the Arcade Building (southeast corner High and Crawford streets), Ashton's
store (on High Street), and, from late 1870s to 1897, the third floor of the
Portsmouth Insurance Company Building.

(See Continuation Sheet #1)
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Carnahan, Jawmes R, Pythian ng}athot)d Its HJ_btorv and Litevatuwre. Cincinnati: The

Pettibone Manufacturing Co-: 1%04.
Ledger-Star (Norfolk), May 12, 1471,
Portsmouth Star, June 15--17, 1897; April 15, 1898.
SuPreme Statut« 5 of Order of Knights of Pythias and Supreme Constituticn, Nashville,

1903.

WGFOGPAPHICAL DATfi 1/10 acre (approximately -— 5085 sq. ft.)

ACRUAGE OF NOMINATED PROPERTY
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VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION (,omprls:mrr a city lot at the N corner of Court and County

streets, measuring 56.5' x 90', the forpar being the frontage on Court Street. The
building itself roughly measures 56.5' x 60'. The nominated property occupies
610-612 Court Street and is recorded in Portsmouth City Deed Book 52, p. 116.

(See . survey. map). ... . STt -
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7. DESCRIPTION

first fleoor and minor secondary rooms. The ceiling of the center commercial
space on the first floor displays beaded siding laid in a diagonal pattern.
All door surrounds are of beaded woodwork with round-stamped corner blocks.

A one-story brick and rough-faced, coursed ashlar addition is found to
the north of Pythian Castle (610 Court Street). Added ca. 1908, the extension
is also Romanesque Revival in style. The small building is fronted by a
coursed ashlar facade with round-arch openings forming a small entrance porch.
Voussolirs and the central column are all of smooth-faced ashlar. A dentil
frieze and battlement parapet top the addition.

The interior of the addition follows 2 shotgun plan. Fach of the two
main rooms is similar in size and possesses corner coal fireplaces with
catalogue mantels. The overmantel from the front (east) room has been rcmoved.,
The beaded chair rails and door surrounds in the addition remain intact.

Both the Pythian Castle and the one-story addition are in good condition
and display only minor interior alterations.

BNZ
BOUNDARY JUSTIFICATION

The nominated property consists of the 56.5' x 90' city lot on which
the building is situated.

8. SIGNTFTCANCE

Representatives from many of Virginia's fraternal organizations arrived in
Portsmouth to witness the laying of the cornerstone and the dedication of the
present building in 1897, 1In addition to the more than two thousand of the
general public in attendance, others participating in the cornerstone celebration
included representatives from the Masonic Lodge, grand lodge officials, the Pythian
Hall Assoclation Choir, orphans from the Masonic Home, officials of the Portsmouth
Navy Yard, court judges, and ministers of all the city churches.,

In 1979 the Knights of Pythias sold the Pythian Castle following over
elghty years of continuous use as a fraternal hall. The building remains in
good condition with no major exterior or interior alterations. Current plans
are to convert the building to a restaurant.

MTP/RNZ

(See Continuation Sheet #2)

T




FHR-8-300A
(11/78)

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR
HERITAGE CONSERVATION AND RECKFATION SERVICE

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES

INVENTORY -- NOMINATION FORM

Pythian Castle, Portsmouth, Va.
CONTINUATION SHEET #2 ITEM NUMBER 8 PAGE 2

8. SIGNIFICANCE

1
Portsmouth Star, June 15-17, 1897; April 15, 1898,

2James R. Carnahan, Pythian Knighthood, Tts History and Literature
(Cincinnati: The Pettibone Manufacturing Co., 1904), p. 121.

3Tbid., pp. 239-245, 286.

Suprem: Statutes of Order of Knights of Pythias and Supreme.
Constitution (enacted September 1, 1894; Nashville, 1903).

SLedge_:Sggz_(Norfolk), May 12, 1971.

6P0rtsm0uth Star, June 16, 1897.
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